iR

L

g

-

S

LDRC JUROR ATTITUDES STUDY III:
Private-Figure (Gross Irresponsibility)/Newspaper/Defense Win

Advance Copy of LBRC Study
to be Published in Forthcoming LDRC Bulletin

Pre-Publication Draft --
Subject to Minor Final Revisions

Copyright 1987 Libel Defense Resource Center

404 Park Avenue South, 16th Floor, New York, NY 10016 (212) 889-23006



LDRC JUROR ATTITUDES STUDY III*:

Introduction

This is the Libel Defense Resource Center's third Juror
Attitudes Study.

The first LDRC Jury Study dealt with a major newspaper defendant
in a public figure's libel action. (See LDRC Bulletin No. 14 at
1-33.) That case was lost at trial and the jury awarded damages
approaching one million dollars, based on an arithmetical
compromise, 45% of which was denominated as compensatory damages and
55% of which was denominated as punitive damages. LDRC's Study of
that case revealed that the jury considered the case to be one
largely focused on the truth or falsity of the underlying
allegations, even though the newspaper had opreviously retracted the
erroneous portion of the subject article prior to any claim being
made, acknowledged and expressed regret over what it said was an
innocent mistake, and did not seek to defend the truth of that
portion of the publication at trial, According to LDRC's findings,
the jury in 1its very brief deliberations on the liability issue
never really seemed to focus on the pivotal issue of actual malice,
although the judge®e instructions on this issue were excellent,

LDRC's second Jury Study also dealt with a case lost bv the
media, this one inveolving a major television defendant in a private
figure's libel and false liaght privacy action. (See LDRC Bulletin
No. 15 at 1-26.) 1In that case, LDRC found that at least half of the
jurors (all of those interviewed) had begun their deliberations
favoring the defendant. A lengthy and meticulous deliberation,
focusing on the -judge's instructions {the full text of which was
given to the jury) and a special verdict form, led the jury
unanimously to conclude that the law required a verdict for the
plaintiff. (LDRC's Study concluded that aspects of the charge
mislead the jury and a subsequent appeal decided that the verdict
was erroneous as a matter of law, reversed the judgment and
dismissed the plaintiff's claims.) Having reach this conclusion as
to liability, the jury in this bifurcated proceeding then in short
order entered an award of $1.25 million, $250,000 in compensatory
damages -~ this despite the fact that the jury did not particularly
sympathize with the plaintiff and did not feel he had heen
especially harmed financially over and above his legal costs -- ancd
$1 million in punitive damages -- despite the fact that the jurv was

¢ IDRC gratefully acknowledges the invaluable assistance of Thomas
h. Hartnett, second-year student at the New York University School
of Law, in the preparation of LDRC Jury Attitudes Study III.
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not particularly angry with the media defendant (at least half of
them having initially favored defendant on the liability issue).

In this third Jury Study LDRC sought to select a case in which
the media defendant had prevailed. The case ultimately chosen dealt
with a newspaper defendant, this time in a nrivate fiqure's libel
action governed by a "“gross irresponsibility” fault standard. As
indicated below, althouagh judgment was entered for the defendant
based on a failure to establish the reguisite degree of fault, even
in this defense win the jury split its verdict, voting in favor of
the plaintiff on the issue of falsity.

Methodology

LDRC followed the same basic methodelogy in this Studv as it had
in the previogg\two Jury Studies. Briefs, opinions, jurv
instructions and requests to charge, along with alternative versions
of a special jury verdict form, plus portions of the trial
transcript {(including the opening and closina statements of both
plaintiff and defense counsel) were reviewed to achieve an
independent understanding of the issues, arguments and proofs in the
case. In addition, LDRC interviewed one of defendant's "in-house"
counsel, who had sat in on both trials in the case, and defense
counsel retained for this trial. A list of the jurors' names and
counties of residence was obtained from the information routinelwv
provided to the attorneys by the court clerk's office. Then, usina
the limited information available, addresses and/or televhone
numbers were located for all six jurors, and four of the six
alternates. Letters were written to most of these Jurors exmlainina
the nature of the LDRC Study, asking for their voluntary cooperaticn
and promising confidentiality.

Three of the reqular jurors and twoe of the alternates aareed to
meet with LDRC for detailed interviews. These face-to-face
interviews lasted between 1-1/2 and 2-1/2 hours. & 23-padge written
script was loosely followed by the interviewer during these
meetings. In addition, one other juror and one alternate were
interviewed by telephone following a somewhat abbreviated version of
the script. 1In sum, a total of seven of the twelve jurors were
interviewed in the Study -- four out of the six regular jurors and
three of the six alternmates. 1In addition, the basic vositions of
the regular jurors who had not been interviewed, as to the three
questions on the special verdict form, were revealed to some
substantial extent by the four regular jurors who were interviewed.
Finally, LDRC became indirectly aware of some of the specific views
of the other three alternates. Of the five jurors not interviewed,
one was sboken to by telephone but declined to be interviewed.
Another scheduled an interview but did not appear, and LDRC was
thereafter unable to contact her; another failed to resmond to a



series of letters; and two Jjurors were never contacted due to
insufficient information as to their place of residence. Althouah
not every juror and alternate was interviewed, the jurors who did
participate in the Study provided sufficient information such that
it is confidently believed LDRC's understanding of the jury's basic
attitudes and decision-making process in this case is essentially
complete and accurate. .

Backaround of the Case

The case arose out of a Pulitzer Prize-winning series of
newspaper articles, later republished in book form, which
investigated drug smuggling into the U.S5. Plaintiff was a wealthv
foreign businessman. Defendants were the newspaper which printed
the articles, three of its reporters and its managing editor, anAd
the publisher of the subsequent book based on the articles.

1. The Articles

The defendant newspaper had conducted a wide-ranging,
investigative study of drug trafficking, from production centers
abroad to the drugs' final destination in the .S, The result was a
long and detailed series of articles on the narcotics trade. Brief
portions of two of those articles linked vlaintiff to foreian drua
trafficking, and depicted him as a profiteer who specialized in
smugglina over a particular route. Three hundred other alleged drug
traffickers were named in the article, but no one other than the
plaintiff ever contacted the newspaper, or asserted a claim denving
the allegations. The newspaper based its allegations acgainst
plaintiff on information it had received from two drua smuaqlers and
an "underground chemist.”" In addition, defendant contended its
allecations were reviewed and verified by three knowledaeable volice
officials in plaintiff's locale, and by a CIA agent stationed in the
area. However, during the libel action the three police officials
denied ever making the statements attributed to them by the
reporters, and one of the three actually testified at trial on
behalf of the plaintiff. Furthermore, the CIA agent was unavailable
to testify on behalf of the reporters. Approximatelv a vear aftsr
the articles were published, the newspaper authorized a paperback
book version of the series to bhe printed and distributed bv another
publisher. The book essentially repeated the allegaticons made
aaainst plaintiff in the newspawmer series. As noted, at the time of
the paperback license no c¢laim had been received from the plaintiff
or from any other person mentioned in the articles.

2. Plaintiff's Claim

Ten months after the paperback republication, and over two vears
after the original newspaper series ran, plaintiff commenced the
instant libel action. He asserted three causes of action for 1ihel,
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and included as defendants the newspaper, 1ts managinag editor, the
reporters who prepared the articles, and the publisher of the book
based on the articles as defendants. Recovery was sought for
allegedly libelous statements in both the book and the newspaper
series. Plaintiff arqued the accusations against him were false,
and that his reputation as a legitimate businessman in his homeland
had been injured as a result of the defamatorv statements about him,

3. Summary Judgment

Plaintiff's first cause of action, based on the oriainal
newspaper publication of the allegations, was initially dismissed
because the applicable statute of limitations had expired. The
other two causes of action, based on the republication of the
allegations in book form, were treated as timely. Followinag
discovery, all six named defendants moved for summary judgment,
arguing that plaintiff had failed to produce evidence sufficient to
defeat their gualified privilege as journalists under the "gross
irresponsibility" standard applicable in the jurisdiction. The
trial court ruled in favor of defendants and dismissed the
complaint, holding that the guality of the reportinag was sufficient
to disprove a clajm of gross irresponsibility. But an intermediate
appellate court reversed, holding that an issue of fact existed as
to whether or not the accusations were republished in "good faith."
Finally, the state's highest appellate court, in a divided opinion,
agreed with the trial court that dismissal was appropriate as to the
reporters and the editor because they had not been involved in
authorizing the republication, and the book publisher because that
publisher had no knowledge of any alleged fault on behalf of the
newspaper or its reporters and had a right to rely on the apparent
care with which the newspaper series had been put together,
However, a bare majority denied summary judgment as to the
newspaper, holding that its corporate liability for any allegedly
irresponsible conduct by its employees during the investigation
would carry forward to any republication of that material, and
finding material issues of disputed fact based on affidavits from
the police officials denvying that they had been sources for the
charges against the plaintiff.

4, The Trial

when the case was originallv tried it resulted in a mistrial.
The mistrial came about after several weeks of trial, when delays in
the trial process led to a number of jurors being excused for
personal reasons, This left too few jurcors to continue with the
case, A new judae sat on the second trial and new defense counsel
were retained. In that second trial both parties maintained the
same basic positions thev had held to in the first. The defense
argued that the references to plaintiff in the book were true, and
that in anv event the defendant and its reporters had solid sources



for their information and had, in any event, not been arosslv
irresponsible in printing those allegations. The plaintiff's
position was essentially that the newspaper's storv was incorrect as
to plaintiff and that despite its allegedly extensive investication
the newspaper had failed to check obvious sources that would have
established the falsity of its information as to plaintiff. More
specifically, plaintiff's counsel sought to demonstrate that
defendants were lying about, or had fabricated, much of the
information that allegedly formed the basis for their publication
about plaintiff and that allegedly connected him to drug trafficking.

When the trial began the Aefense had some serious evidentiary
problems with both of those positions. On the gquestion of the truth
or falsity of the references to plaintiff, the defense did not have
any witnesses directly linking plaintiff to drug dealing. Those who
had originally provided the reporters with the information regarding
plaintiff were unavailable to testify, and the foreign police
officials who defendant claimed had verified its story denied ever
making those remarks. On the question of whether or not the
reporters had acted in a grossly irresponsible manner, the trial
judge made several important evidentiary rulings against the
defense. The revorters had kept detailed contemporaneous notes of
their investigative work, that were regularly transcribed into
detailed memoranda, but the judge refused tec admit those notes on
the reporting process into evidence, His decision was based on the
concept that their admission would be highly preiudicial to
plaintiff in that the jury might tend to consider them with regard
to the issue of truth rather than fault and that the written
materials might also unduly "bolster” the reporters' testimony about
their methods in preparing the investigative series. The djudce also
refused to allow any mention to be made of the fact that the series
of articles had won the Pulitzer Prize,

During the trial the defense portrayed the journalists as
hard-working, thorough professionals who had more than adeguately
checked their story. Defense counsel also attacked the one foreiagn
police official who testified on behalf of nlaintiff, and durina
cross-examination attempted to expose inconsistencies in his
testimonvy. Several federal Adrug agents testified that plaintiff was
suspected of being a drug smuggler. Also, with two weeks remaining
in the trial, the defense found and produced a surovrise witness.
That witness was a former smuagler and U.S. government informant who
testified that he had participated in a prior drug transaction with
the plaintiff. This testimony was the only direct evidence produced
bv the defense to show that plaintiff was, in fact, a drua
smuggler. Defense counsel's style seems to have been a consciously
low-keyed one, preferring to build his case slowly through careful
cross-examination rather than through impressing the jury with
pyrotechnics, On a tactical level, defense counsel reports
attempting to keep his objections to a minimum, since the presidina



judge had demeonstrated some dismosition to rule against an obhiectina
party during the proceeding. While this low-keved approach was
ultimately successful, it Aid leave some of the durors wnnderiro, =t
least for a time, about the strength of counsel's case.

T

Conversely, plaintiff's counsel had a hoisterous and
argumentative style that impressed a number of the jurors, althouah
to an extent it turned off some other jurors. Ultimatelv,
plaintiff's counsel failed in his attempt to persuade the jurv that
not only had the reporters printed allegations regardinag nlaintiff
without having adequately verified them, but that they had actuallv
attempted to cover up their mistake hv Ivina in claimino that their
information had been corroborated by local police officials.
Testimony to that effect by one of those volice officers was the
cornerstone of plaintiff's case. Plaintiff himself testified as to
the legitimate nature of his business enterprises and his versanal
aversion to drugs of any kind. His daughter and son-in-law also
testified to that effect, painting the plantiff as a nillar of the
community who had been unjustlyv libelled. On the question of aross
irresponsibility, plaintiff's counsel portrayed the remorters as a
. group enjoying a foreign vacation, who were not actina in a
professional manner. Counsel aragued that the reporters were
arrogant and cavalier in making serious and unsubstantiated
allegations. He focused on the fact that the reoorters had not
confronted plaintiff with their allegations before printing the
story as evidence of aross irresponsihilitv,
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1 Plaintiff's counsel also attempted to point out inaccurate
details in defendant's storv as indicative of the revorters'
capacity for error and of the obvious steps they could have taken,
but did not take, to check their facts pbrior to oublication. For
example, the reporters had written that plaintiff owned a marticular
. nightclub, but plaintiff claimed that in fact his hrother owned the
club. The reporters had also written that plaintiff owned "villas”
in certain foreian cities, but plaintiff claimed thev were not
villas but "apartments.” Finally, plaintiff testified concernina
the damage that the alleaedlv libelous statements had done to him.
He and his family testified in a general way as to damaaged reputation
and emotional distress. Plaintiff alleaged no svecial Aamaoes and
the court did not allow testimony on plaintiff's claim of lost
business profits to be admitted. Plaintiff also claimed that he was
in constant fear of being detained when he travelled internationallv
because of the smuggling allegations, but this claim was seriouslv
hampered by the exclusion of evidence as to one such incident.
Despite the lack of specific evidence of financial loss, nlaintiff's
counsel nonetheless, during his closing arqument, asked the fjury to
award his client $£5 million.

L

At the conclusion of the trial the judoe, in his instructinns to
the jury, clearly stated that the burden of proof rested on the
plaintiff on both the auestion of whether the references tn olaintiff




had been "substantially false," and of whether the defendant had
acted in a "grossly irresponsible" manner. His other instructions
on the central substantive elements of the case, although not models
of clarity, were largely correct in their statement of the law. The
judge also undertook to marshall the evidence presented for the ijurv,
He expressly instructed the jurors that they were not to consider
the accuracy of details written about plaintiff when determinina
whether what had been printed was "substantially false." He
instructed the jury that the details he mentioned, specificallv
questions about the ownership of a nightclub and villas that had
been explored at length by plaintiff's counsel during the trial,
were only to be considered in the context of the defendant's alleaed
‘gross irresponsibility. On the issue of falsity, the -judage
instructed the jury to consider only the testimony of the plaintiff,
the defendant's surprise witness, and the foreiqn police official
testifying on plaintiff's behalf. Finally, the judge also instructed
the jury that the reporters' elaborate overall investigative
procedure was not the issue in this case, and that the only relevant
issue was whether the reporters had acted in a arossly irresponsible
manner in publishing the particular passages concerning the
plaintiff. A svecial verdict form, with three interrogatories, was
given to the jury to take into their deliberations. Question one
dealt with the issue of truth or falsity; auestion two with gross
irresponsibility; @nd question three, to be addressed only if the
answers to questions one and two favored the plaintiff, dealt with
compensatory damages. The issue of punitive damaades was bifurcated
at this stage.

The Jury's Verdict

1. The Deliberation Process

The jury was excused at approximately 3 p.m., after receivina
the judge's instructions on the law with regard to libel. It
deliberated until 6 p.m. on the first dav. During that veriod the
jurors returned to the courtroom, at their request, to have certain
testimony of the foreign police official appearinag on hehalf of the
plaintiff re-read. That testimony involved his confirmation of the
drua activities of a2 long list of persons named in the hook, but his
vociferous denial that he had included vlaintiff among them. On the
second day, the jury deliberated until shortly after noon before
reaching a verdict. During that second day the jurors had the
judge's charge re-read "as to the weight of the evidence." The
total time of deliberation was approximately six hours.

According to the special verdict form it completed, the Aqurv
unanimously found that the references in the book to plaintiff
concerning his involvement in illegal druas and drua traffickina
were "substantially false." However, it also found that the
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defendant newspaper, acting through its reporters, had not acted in
a "grossly irresponsible” manner. It thus decided that plaintiff
had failed to prove his libel case and, accordina to the special
verdict form, the jury did not consider if, and to what extent,
plaintiff had been damaged by the allegedly lihellous statements.
This seemingly straightforward split verdict belies the far more
complex attitudes and beliefs which underlav the jurv's final

decision.

2. Truth/Falsity: Initial VvVote

As noted, the jury answered yes to ocuestion one on the svecial
verdict form: "Were the references to the plaintiff in the book,
concerning his involvement in illegal druas and drug trafficking,
substantially false?" This decision would not in itself appear
unusual except that at the time the final vote was taken on this
guestion it now appears that as many as five of the six regular
jurors did think that plaintiff was a drug smuagler, and the sixth
felt he was at least "involved"” in drug smugalinag. All three
alternates polled also felt plaintiff was a drug smuagler.* Half of
the jury was convinced of this fact after only a couple of days of
the more than four-week trial, because it concluded olaintiff and
the foreign police official testifying on his behalf were lyina. 1In
concluding that plaintiff was in fact a drug smuggler, several of
the jurors were strongly influenced by their perception that
plaintiff had become wealthy in shipping and transport husinesses
involving the exporting, among other items, of fish and automobile
tires. These ijurors speculated that this could have provided
plaintiff the means of smuggling drugs. No evidence suggesting that
this was the case was introduced at trial, vet several -urors
apparently reached this conclusion independently. Two other jurors
were convinced by the appearance of the defendant's surprise witness
near the end of the trial, and the final juror decided that
plaintiff must have been involved after listening to the re-readina
of the police official's testimony. The question then becomes, how
could the jury have voted that the references to the olaintiff were

* As noted, in this Study four of the regular jurors were interviewed.
References in this discussion of the deliberation process to the views
of all six jurors is based on the consistent recollections of the four
jurors interviewed regarding the views of the remaining two ‘urors, One
of those jurors was consistently reported to have been strongly disposed
against the plaintiff’'s position; the other was revorted to have heen
among the group of jurors who, while they suspected plaintiff, felt that
the newspaper had failed to prove these serious charaes -- see
discussions of truth/falsity herein; see also Juror Profiles section,
infra. It cannot be known for certain to what extent those two iurors
would now agree with these reports by the other jurors.



substantially false? The answer is not a simple one, since it was 2
convergence of several distinct circumstances and strains of thought
which, as best can be determined after the fact, led to the decision
on guestion one.

Clearly, the root of the problem lay in the judge's instructions
and interrogatories as reflected on the special verdict form given
to the jury. In the vroposed interrogatories defense counsel
submitted to the court, its question on truth/falsity read, "Has
plaintiff proved by a preponderance of the evidence that the
statement in the book that he was a drug smuggler was false?"”
However, in the final interrogatory submitted by the court to the
jury that construction was altered in three important respects.
First, the reference to the plaintiff's burden of proof was
omitted. Second, the specific focus on "drug smugglling]" was
replaced with a far less definite formulation regardina "references
... in the book ... concerning ... illegal drugs and drug
trafficking.” And finally, "falsity" was changed to "substantial
falsity"”. These seemingly innocuous changes worked in tandem with
certain events during the course of the deliberations to change the
jury's vote on question one in this surprising manner.

Once in the jury room, the jurors spent some time examining the
exhibits given them by the court. Immediately afterward, they took
a vote on gquestion one. Most of the jurors were surprised when the
vote ended in a 3-3 tie. Three jurors focused on a statement in the
judge's instructions asking the Jjurors to apply their "common sense"
and, having concluded that plaintiff was a drug smuggler, they voted
"no" on guesticn one -- i.e., that the references to plaintiff were
not substantially false. The other three jurors voted "yes" on
guestion one -- that the references to plaintiff were substantially
faise -- for two distinctly different reasons.

Two of those three jurors voted "yes" on gquestion one, despite
their suspicions regarding his involvement in drug smuggling,
because they felt that defendant had not proven that plaintiff was a
drug smuggler. They were thus apparently confused as to the burden
of proof, and apparently none of the other jurors focused on this
confusion as to burden in attempting to convince these jurors to
shift their vote on question one. Indeed, it appears the ijurors
never discussed the burden of proof, as such, during the
deliberations. In fact, only one of the regular jurors interviewed
correctly recalled all aspects of the judge's instructions on burden
of proof.

This misapplication of the burden of preoof may have been
partially a result of prior experience some of the jurors had had
with criminal trials. The severity of allegations of drua smuaaling
may have led these jurors to conclude that such allegations cannot
be made without "concrete" proof of their truth., During LDRC's
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interviews, several jurors expressed their belief that "vou can't
Just go around calling someone a drug smuggler without evidence to
back that up." Apparently, defendant's effort to demonstrate that
1t had sufficiently verified its allegations did not satisfy these
jurors.

It therefore becomes apparent that, had a reminder that the
burden of proof rests on the plaintiff been retained in the
interrogatory, a great deal of confusion might have been avoided. A
correct instruction on the burden of proof was included in the
judge's charge to the ijury; however, that instruction was bhuried in
the middle of a 3%-page charge and most of the jurors were unable to
remember exactly what the judae had stated on this point. The
jurors did not have a copy of the judge's instructions in the jury
room during their deliberations.

The other juror who initially voted "yes" on gquestion one was
the only one of the regular jurors who realized the burden of proof
rested on on the plaintiff on both auestions one and two in this
case. Thus, her decision to vote "yes"” on the guestion was the
result of a very different analytical process than that undertaken
by the other two jurors initially voting "yes". This Jjuror was
confused by the words "substantially false" in the first auestion on
the special verdict form. She interpreted these words as meaning

that details printed in the passage -- such as whether or not
plaintiff owned a particular nightclub, owned a villa, or smuagagled
on the particular route mentioned in the book -- were relevant in

deciding whether the plaintiff had been libelled. A definition of
what constitutes "substantial falsitv," and an admconition that the
truth or falsity of details in the passage referring to the
plaintiff were irrelevant in deciding guestion one, was contained in
the court's charge. However, once again information was lost on a
juror amidst the mass of information presented by the -djudge. This
same juror believed that plaintiff had met his burden of proof with
regard to the falsity of the aforementioned details. Therefore,
when defendant d4id not come forward with evidence to refute that put
forward by the plaintiff on the inaccuracy of details in the
allegations, she ultimately concluded that the law compelled her to
vote that the references to vlaintiff were substantiallv false,

3. Truth/Falsity: Vote Swing

The jury in this case spent the vast majority of its
deliberation time attempting to answer guestion cne. After the
initial vote, the jurors began exvlaining their positions to one
another in an attempt to reach a consensus on the guestion. Those
jurors who had initially voted "no" on guestion one -- i.e., that
the publication was not substantially false -- knowing that their
feliow jurors also believed that the plaintiff was in fact a drua
smuggler, questioned the consistency of the position that the

-10-



references were substantially false. Basically, those jurors
retorted that defendant had failed to prove that the references were
truve, and that one could not accuse someone of such a serious crime
without proof. Two or three more votes on the guestion were taken
and, despite some wavering by two of the jurors who had voted “yes”
on guestion one, the jury apparently remained deadlocked at 3-3. At
this point the discussion toock on a rancorous tone, as both sides
became frustrated at the impasse in the deliberations. Shouting and
heated arguments began to take place among some of the djurors. As
the jurors went home at 6 p.m. on the first day of the
deliberations, no progress had been made in resclving the deadlock
on question one.

On the second day of the deliberations, the jury began to search
for new approaches so as to break its deadlock. It asked for, and
received, a re-reading of the charge as to the weight of the
evidence. Following this re-reading the perspectives of the jurors
changed to such an extent that, within a short period of time, they
reached a unanimous decision that the references to plaintiff were
substantially false and, therefore, that guestion one should be
answered in the affirmative. It is difficult to say precisely why
this occurred. There is seemingly nothinag in that portion of the
court's charge whlch was re-read which should necessarily have
broken the jurors' 1mpasse on this guestion. No mention was made in
the re~reading of the burden of proof, the definition of substantial
falsity or the irrelevance of the truth or falsity of certain
details reported in the book. One juror focused on the judge's
re-reading of ‘the instruction that the jurors should determine which
side had presented the "preponderance" of the evidence, and favor
that party. Since she believed the plaintiff had presented more
relevant evidence than the defendant, particularly with regard to
the "details," she voted in his favor on question one. It 1is not
clear whether or not this passage in the re-read instructions may
have similarlv influenced other jurors as well.

Two accounts of how the jury achieved unanimity on question one
have emerged, neither of which provides a fully satisfving
explanation for the unanimous answer to guestion one and the process
bv which it was achieved. In the first account, which most of the
jurors adhere to, the key is that after the re-reading the Jurors
focused on what was actually written in the passage at issue, rather
than their personal beliefs regarding the underlying question of
plaintiff's drug dealing. Conseaquentlyv, the three jurors who had
originally voted "no" on gquestion one decided that insufficient
evidence had been presented by the defendant-to . prove the specific
allegations in the passage -- presumably focusing significantly on
the "details" rather than the basic charge of drug traffickinag. 1In
so doing these jurors also implicitly accepted the misapplication of
the burden of proof propounded by two of the three jurors who had
originally voted "yes" on gquestion one. It is clear that when the

-11-
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deliberations began, five of the six jurors were convinced plaintiff
was a drug smuggler, and the sixth ultimately accepted the fact that
plaintiff was "involved" after the foreign police official’s
testimony was re-read. It therefore seems safe to say that the vote
swing which occurred was not a result of any juror changing his or
her mind on that factual issue, but merely of the manner in which
the legal question was ultimately aporoached. As one juror who
changed his vote stated, "When the judge re-read the law, it seemed
we couldn't come out and say he was legally guilty, according to the
law, even though in our hearts we knew he was guilty."

The other account by one jurcr of the manner in which a decision
was reached on question one described the vote swing as the product
of a pure compromise. This juror, who was the last to accept
plaintiff's involvement in drug smuggling, suggested to the forelady
that they decide that what was printed in the book wasn't true, but
that the reporters weren't grossly irresponsible. "We made a deal,"
she said. The other jurors denied that an outright compromise had
been made on the verdict, but this juror's suggestion did provide a
method for those jurors favoring the defense to break the impasse on
the first guestion without hurting the defendant financially. It
may well be that three jurors changed their votes shortly after the
re-reading of the judge's instructions on the weight of the evidence
because they genuifnely concluded that they were approaching the
analysis of question one in the wrong manner, On the other hand, it
mav also be the case that the re-reading provided a convenient
excuse for the implementation of an implicit compromise that hurt
neither side while enabling the jury to go home. This conflict in
the jurors’' accounts must remain unanswered, although there may ke
some element of truth to both explanations.

4. Gross Irresponsibility

Once the jurors had completed their deliberations on the
truth/falsity question, they reached a decision on whether or not
the defendant had acted in a gqrossly irresponsible manner almost
immediately. They determined that it had not acted with gross
irresponsibility., In a sense, plaintiff's counsel never reallv
attempted to make a case on the issue of gross irresponsibility. He
chose instead to build plaintiff's case on a theory of deliberate
lies and falsification, This strategy was perhaps unavoidable since
from the outset of the case the defense claimed to have had numerous
sources for their accusations against the plaintiff, including high
government officials. If this defense claim were accepted, proof of
gross irresponsibility would presumably be impossible,. Plaintiff
on the other hand, had successfuly resisted summary judgment bhecause
these goverment officials, for whatever reasons, subsequently denied
that they had given plaintiff's name to the reporters and in some
cases that they had even met with the reporters. It was therefore
perhaps inevitable that the trial would center around the resolution
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of this stark conflict in the testimony rather than around a more
abstruse consideration of guantum of journalistic fault under the
rubric "gross irresponsibility." There was no expert testimony
presented on behalf of either side on this issue and plaintiff's
case regarding fault centered on the contention that defendant's
reporters had been careless in their investigation and had then
sought to cover up their errors by lyirng about their sources. When
plaintiff lost the fundamental battle of credibility as to these
basic contentions there was perhaps little question but that a jury
thus predisposed would not find the defendant "grossly
irrespeonsible. " q__

In fact, there was little discussion in the jury room of the
fault issue (question two), and no one during the deliberations ever
attempted carefully to evaluate the concept of fault based on a
standard of gross irresponsibility. Given plaintiff's trial
strategy, this 1s entirely understandable. Indeed, when the
deliberations began, only one juror thought that the defendant had
been grosslv irresponsible. She felt the newspaper had been arossly
irresponsible "in what it was saying and the picture it tried to
give" of the plaintiff, because she believed defendant reported
incorrect information and didn't check it and because its reporters
lied tc cover up their mistakes. However, because she was the -juror
who believed a compromise verdict had been struck, she voted with
the majority on gquestion two without demanding any sianificant
substantive discussion regarding the resolution of that question.

During LDRC's interviews the other jurors were firm in their
view that the reporters had not acted in a grossly irresponsible
manner, although most felt the reporters had to a areater or lesser
extent been sloppy regarding details in the case. Nonetheless, most
of the jurors felt that the reporters had done a hasically
responsible job under dangerous circumstances. And regardless of
whether they felt that what was printed was actually or, as one
juror put it, "legally" true, almost all of the jurors did believe
that the defendant's reporters had received information about the
plaintiff's involvement in drug trafficking and that the information
received had been verified by foreign police officials. As to the
jurors' reactions to specific reporters, one reporter who was
subjected to a particularly intense cross-examination bv vlaintiff’s
counsel, nonetheless impressed the jurors LDRC interviewed as
basically believeable, Another, however, a the weak impression on
the jury. One juror referred to him as pompous and condescending;
another thought he was too defensive on the stand; while a third acot
the impression that his testimony was too "rehearsed" and,
therefore, not entirely credible. The one juror LDRC interviewed
who was impressed with this reporter, nonetheless concluded that he
knew how to "plav tricks with words."” 1In sum, despite the fact that
the jurors were not entirely disposed against all of the reporters
and did not find credible the most extreme of plaintiff's charges
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about lying and falsification, it is fair to say that the reporters
as a group certainly did not convince the jury that their
investigative reporting, however extensive or elaborate, was hevond
guestion in terms either of methods or results.

Plaintiff arqued that the revorters could have and should have
gone abroad again, once this suit was initiated, to collect more
evidence supporting their charges. This argument met with mixerd
success. Four Jjurors thought the reporters should have gone back,
although only one of the four thought a failure to do so supoorted a
finding of gross irresponsibility on the defendant's part. Likewise,
the jurors were almost evenlv split on whether the reporters should
have confronted the plaintiff with their allegations. Some felt it
would be too dangerous. Several jurors compared confrontina the
plaintiff to personally accusing a Mafia figure of committinag
crimes, and rhetorically asked, "Would vou do that?" The vote on
gross irresponsibility, as opposed to the raised-hand votes on
truth/falsity, was taken by verbal acclamation,

5. Damages

Because on auestion two of the special verdict form the -Hurv
found that the defendant had not been grossly irresponsibie, it was
not required to consider the question of damages. However, if it
had, it seems clear that the plaintiff would not have fared well on
that issue. All but one of the jurors interviewed believed that the
plaintiff had not been damaged by the book, and consequently thev
were not prepared to award him anv damages. The jurecrs didn't
believe that anyone in Turkey had read the book, and they were
unwilling to accept plaintiff's argument that he was nervous when
travelling internationally because of its publication. Plaintiff's
inability to introduce any evidence of alleaged financial loss due to
the book thus virtually denied him the possiblility of recoverina
significant compensatorv damages. The only mention of damaaes in
the jury room occurred when one of the jurors suggested that thev
award plaintiff one dollar and send him home. The -udae had
instructed the jurors that they could award the plaintiff nominal
damages, but this suagestion was apparentlv treated as a rebuke and
not as any acceptance of plaintiff's claims of injury or damaae.
Another factor which apopears stronalv to have influenced the -Jurv's
attitude towards plaintiff’s request for damages was the jurors'
perception that plaintiff was a wealthv man. Althouah specific
evidence as to the extent of plaintiff's wealth was not admitted,
the jurors were aware that plaintiff had a rather luxurious
lifestyle and they assumed that he must have incurred significant
legal expenses in pursuing his case. They therefore considered anv
damage which the book might have cause as miniscule by comparison.

The one juror who told LDRC that she had felt the nlaintiff
deserved damages was also the juror who felt the reporters had been
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grossly irresponsible and who appeared most disposed to helieve
plaintiff's claim of lack of involvement in drug smuggling. She
based her belief that the plaintiff should receive damaages on what
she felt was the traumatic effect the allegations in the book had on
plaintiff's family. This one juror did not indicate what amount she
felt was appropriate to be awarded and it may be that she had never
arrived at any specific fiqure in her own mind. 7Ft does not avpear
that she had mentioned her view of the damages issue to the other
jurors during the deliberations.

As noted, the judge bifurcated the issue of bunitive damaaes in
this case, so that the jury did not initially receive evidence on
defendant's net worth and it 4id not receive leaal instructions or a
special interrogatory on the punitive damages issue, Because it
decided the reporters had not acted in a arosslv irresponsible
manner, the jury never received either. By all appearances,
however, they had no inclination to award punitive damaages in this
case.

Juror Profiles

The regular jugors in this case were aquite similar from a
demographic standpoint. Five of the six jurors were women, five of
the six jurors were members of minoritv aroups and at least four
jurors came from urban, lower middle-class or working-class
households. ©Only one of the four jurors interviewed was a colleae
graduate and it appears that at least one if not both of those not
interviewed also did not have cclleae degrees. Politicallv, a
majority of the jurors interviewed described themselves as either
Democrats or Liberals.

In terms of attitudes toward the media, three of the four
regular jurors interviewed felt the media does a good job overall
and believe most of what they read in the print mediz or watch on
television. However, one of these jurors did say that subsegquent to
this trial she had been misquoted in a newspaper article but, aside
from that incident, none of these three jurors seems to have had any
personal exverience with the media and thev displaved no sianificant
pro- or anti-media bias. The fourth juror LDRC interviewed had at
least one previous experience wherein a former business associate
had been, he felt, badly misquoted and he cited this experience as
evidence of the manner in which, he felt, the media distorts the
truth. All of the alternates interviewed expressed certain negative
feelings toward the media. One had had a personal experience
suggesting media inaccuracy and was generally "skeptical"” about what
appears in the media; one had detected some inaccuracy and "bias"™ in
the media from time to time and the third alternate interviewed was
prepared strongly to accept the plaintiff's contention in this case
that professional reporters would lie on the witness stand and
fabricate information in a publication.
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Three of the four jurors interviewed expressed their conrcern
over the extent of drug abuse in the United States, The fourth
juror interviewed, while not expressing a strong personal viewboint
on the drug issue, did express her impression that most of the
jurors had a keen interest in the subject. This interest uvltimatelv
manifested itself in two ways. First, it led to an apparent
reluctance on the part of several of the jurors to grant a damaae
award to a person they suspected of drug dealinag. Second, 1t
appeared to lead manv of the jurors to adopt a "street-wise"
attitude 1in analyzing the testimony of witnesses and the contentions
of the parties. This attitude was clearlv detrimental to the
plaintiff in that these jurors appeared guite willing to believe
that someone who they perceived as having accumulated substantial
wealth through business enterprises consistent with drug dealing
might well be a drug dealer, despite his adamant denials and despite
the fact that he may never have been formally charged or convicted
of such activities.

1. Regular Jurors

Juror A

Juror A is a woman in her mid-thirties. ©She 1is presently
employed as a soci8l worker's aide, and is taking college courses in
order to complete a bachelor's degree in social work. Juror A was
named the forelady of the jury because of her first position in the
jury box, She had a strong interest in the case; she feels stronaly
about the drug problem, and thinks that it was important that the
defendant cover this story. She even asked the defense attorney for
a copy of the book in question after the trial. A enthusiastically
agreed to speak with LDRC, and commented at length on her
impressions of the trial.

Juror & decided to "vote for the defendant® after hearing what
she felt were clearly contradictory statements by plaintiff's
witnesses. A thought that both the plaintiff's dauchter and the
foreign police official testifying on plaintiff's behalf
contradicted themselves on the stand. She thought those witnesses
and the plaintiff himself lied thoughout their testimorny. At one
point durina the trial, A said to her fellow jurors, "I'm not
listening to any more of these lies.” On the other hand, A felt the
reporters were believable witnesses who had not acted in an
irresponsible manner. She alsc believed the testimony of
defendant's surprise witness that he had vnarticipated in a drug deal
with the plaintiff and felt his testimony was the key evidence that
plaintiff was a drug smuaqler, although she suspected the witness
had not been fully forthcoming in his testimony concerning his own
previous involvement in drug trafficking. A also believed the U.S.
drug agents who testified on behalf of the defendant.
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Plaintiff's attorney areatly impressed juror A. She descrihe?d
him as a good lawyer who worked hard and made a good case, but who
at times was too aggqressive. A mentioned that the defense attornev
didn't speak a lot, or get excited, and the jury beaan to wish he
would, His silence bothered the jury at the time, but she concludesd
that he must have "an ace in the hole," and when the defense
produced their surprise witness, she felt her suspicion had bheen
confirmed. She described the judge as stern and without pity for
anyone, but she thought he was fair and in fact liked him,

As forelady and a vocal advocate for the defendant, A appears o
have been a dominant fiqure in the deliberations. GShe was one of
the three jurors who originally voted that the references to
plaintiff were not "substantially false," and she vigorously
attempted to persuade other jurors to accept her position on that
question. In doing so she focused on the judge's instruction that
the jurors should use their "common sense" in reaching a verdict.
While the other Jjurors recalled the original vote tally on question
one as being 3-3, A rather optimistically characterized it as being
4-2, with her recollecticon beinag that four jurors initially voted
that the references were not substantially false.

It was A's attempts to convince the other jurors to vote "no" on
question one which frightened juror D into suggesting a compromise
verdict, and it may have been A's ultimate decision to chanae her
vote on that question which broke the impasse among the jureors. A's
justification for chanaing her vote on question one 1s somewhat
unclear. She said she changed her mind when she began to "focus on
the passage" in relation to the reguirement of "substantial
falsity." However, she believed the reporters' accounts of the
details in the case and thought they were nevertheless irrelevant in
answering guestion one, recognized that the plaintiff bore the
burden of preoof and still helieved he was a drug smugaler. She also
denied that she had changed her vote simply to reach a compromise
verdict. If this is in fact the case, her change seems to have
flowed from a misapprehension of the meaning of "substantial

falsitv" -- twisting its meaning completely around -- rather than
any change of heart regarding the plaintiff's alleged drug
smuagling. In fact, juror A was one of the most vociferous in

complaining about the framing of question one. Her conclusion was
that if the jury's role was to decide whether or not plaintiff was a
drug smuggler, the guestion should directly have been asked.

A did not think the reporters were grossly irresponsible, and
did not think that the plaintiff should have been awarded any
damages. A has had no personal experience with the media. Althouah
she doesn't believe everything she reads in newspapers, she does
believe investigative stories. She reads newspapers occasionallv,
and usually watches television news on NBC, ABC or CNN.
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Juror B

Juror B is a woman 1in her 30's who has attended four vears of
college and works as a clerk for a regional transporation agency. B
lives in a working-class neighborhood and considers herself a
liberal. She was one the three jurors who initially voted that the
references to plaintiff were "substantially false." Desvite this
vote, B savs she believed that the plaintiff was a drug smuagler
from early on in the trial, when she heard the testimonv of the
plaintiff and the foreign official who testified on his behalf. B
asked that the officials' testimony be re-read during the
deliberations, and concluded from that re-reading that he was lvina
in insisting that plaintiff should be excluded from the long list of
drug traffickers he had confirmed to the reporters. She believed
the testimonv of the defendant's surprise witness, although she
stated it didn't have any effect on her because at that time she was
already convinced of the plaintiff's "quilt,"” Similarlv, R helieved
the federal drug agents when they testified that the plaintiff was a
suspected drug dealer, reasoning that they had no reason to single
out the plaintiff and lie on the stand.

B correctlv understood that the burden of oproof rested on
plaintiff in this case. However, 1in the Jjury room she insisted that
the references to®plaintiff were substantially false. This was a
result of her belief that what the jury was asked to decide was "not
what we heard on the stand, but what we read in the book." 1In other
words, B apparently believed that guesticon cne's focus con the
"references" to plaintiff in the hook meant that the jurv was to
decide, ncot the underlying guestion of whether plaintiff was or was
not a drug smuggler, but rather to decide the accuracv of specific
details referring to the plaintiff in the book, Since in her view
the defendant had not wmroffered sufficient evidence to refute that
of the plaintiff on issues such as villa and nightclub ownershio, or
the specific route used in smuaglina, B concluded that she was
legally bound to vote that the references to plaintiff were
"substantially false."

B believed the reporters had acted resconsiblv. While she felt
they could have returned to the site of their research for further
investigation, she believed that they had oriaginally had their
information verified by the foreign police officials. She
conseguently agreed that no damages should have been awarded. B
felt that plaintiff's attorney had a tendency to put words in his
witnesses' mouths, and that defendant's attorney -- while rather
unassertive at the ocutset -- got progressivley stronger as the case
went alona. She thought the judae was fair, and didn't favor either
party, but also felt that his instructions were confusing. B is an
avid reader, reqularly reading all the local newswpapers, and
newsmagazines such as Time and Newsweek., She doesn't believe
evervthing she reads, however. B watches TV news occasionallv, and
fregquently informational programs such as 20/20.
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Juror C

Juror C is a woman in her late 30's. C was contacted by
telephone and invited to participate in this Study, but she declined
to do so, stating that she was through with the case and did not
want to be involved. According to the jurors interviewed, juror C
initially voted "yes" to question one -- i.e., that the references
to the plaintiff were substantially false. However, C appears to
have vacillated during the deliberations, and indeed ijuror A
recalled that C had originally voted "no" on the question of
substantial falsity. Jurors interviewed reported that ¢ did think
that the plaintiff was a drug smuggler, but that she believed that
the burden was on the defendant to prove him as such. C thought
that the reporters had not acted in a grossly irresponsible manhner
and voted that way on guestion two. C apparentlvy made no mention of
damages during the deliberations.

Juror D

Juror D is a woman in her mid-30's who attended two vears of
junior college and who now works as a word processor, This was the
third time that D ‘had served on a jury, the other two cases beina
criminal in nature. She was extremely pro-plaintiff in outlook,
admitting that she hoped throughout that the plaintiff would win
this case. D voted that the references to plaintiff were
substantially false because she felt that it was the defendant's
burden to prove that plaintiff was a drug smuggler and the truth of
the other details it printed, and in her opinion defendant had not
done so. In fact, D was the last of the jurors to acknowledge that
plaintiff was "involved" in drug smugaling, doing so only durina the
deliberations after the foreign police officials' testimony was
re~read.

D believed most of the plaintiff's denials of involvement in
drug trafficking, although she felt that the police officer
testifying on plaintiff's behalf was lyinag throughout. D qave
little credence to defendant's surprise witness, coming into the
trial at such a late date. D also did not think highly of the 1.5,
drug agents, stating that "I don't have much love for police.”

In the jury room D was convinced that the references to
plaintiff were substantially false, and that the reporters had been
grossly irresponsible in painting a false picture of the plaintiff.
She disbelieved most of the reporters' testimony. However, when she
concluded that the other two jurors voting with her on guestion one,
jurors B and C, might weaken and change their votes she suggested to
juror A that a compromise verdict be reached. She would vote "no"
on gross irresponsibility if the jury voted “"yes" on substantial
falsity. D was willing to vote this way hecause she eventuallv came
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to believe that the plaintiff was under suscicion for drug
smuggling, and that the reporters had received his name from Turkish
police officials. This led her to conclude that plaintiff probahlv
had been "invelved" in drug smuggling in one way or another.

As noted, D was candid in admittina her belief that a compromise
verdict had been agreed upon by the jurors. She was disturbed by
some of the other Jjurors' impatience to conclude the deliberations,
and the tension and verbal sniping that attitude engendered in the
jury room. D was the only juror who believed that the plaintiff
should have received damages because of the effect she believed the
book had on his family. D felt plaintiff's attorney did a verv aood
job on the case, except that he should have had the plaintiff admit
that he did spend time in a nightclub described in the bhook, since
she believed his denials were unbelievable. D also thought
defendant's attorney had done everything he could d¢, and had been
especially resourceful in bringing in a surprise witness. She
thought the judge was fair and impartial, althouah she recalled his
repeated reprimands of plaintiff's attorney for his outbursts.

D reads a local tabloid newsvaper dailv, and watches TV news
cccasionally. She watches Nightline regularly, and reads Time and
Newsweek often. She believes that newspapers do take sides on

guestions, and while she would hope to believe that most of what she

reads in the paper is true, she suspects that sometimes it is not.
Her feelings against drugs did not appear to be as strona as those
of most of the other jurors.

Juror E

Juror E 1s a 43-vear-old man who has a bachelor's dearee in
education and works as a disability analyst for a government
acency. In that position he reviews claims and frequently comes in
contact with attorneys. E describes himself as a Demccrat and had
never served on a jury before being selected in this case. FE has a
brother who is a rehabilitated drug addict, a fact which he
indicated did not come out in the voir dire; however, E claims this
fact did not affect his consideraticon of this case. E was one of
the three jurors who initially voted that the references to
plaintiff were not substantially false.

E concluded that plaintiff was a drug smuagler near the end of
the trial. He suspected that the plaintiff was lying on the stand,
but thouaht that he generally presented his case well. Similarly,
he believed the foreign police official who testified on plaintiff’s
behalf was also lying. Yet what ultimately convinced E that
plaintiff was a drug smuggler was defendant's surprise witness who
connected plaintiff to another alleged drug transaction. This, he
felt, was the key testimony in the case. Although E realized that
details orinted in the passage were irrelevant in answering guestion
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one, E ultimately switched his vote on that guestion because, in his
words, he felt he was "pinned down by the court's language."
Focusing on the passage as printed, and failing to apply the correct
burden of proof, E decided that the defendant had not presented
sufficient concrete proof of the truth of the allegations contained
in that passage.

While F was stronglv against plaintiff on the issue of truth of
the underlying allegations, he also felt that the reporters had been
rather sloppy in their information-gathering, and should have gone
back to obtain more evidence. However, he did believe that their
information had been verified by police officials in the plaintiff's
locale. He characterized the reporters as "a little" irresponsible
and consequently he voted "no" on guestion two. F did not want to
award plaintiff any damages, since he didn't believe anyone in
plaintiff's homeland had read the book.

E called plaintiff's counsel a "real actor =- a good action
lawyer." He had concluded that the defense attorney was confused
and perhaps even unprepared at the outset of the trial, and E was
afraid he would be "eaten alive" by plaintiff's counsel. However,
by the end of the trial he had substantially changed his mind,
commenting that thg defense attorney had gotten stronager as the
trial progressed and giving him an "A-plus" on his summation. E
noted the annoyance the judge often displaved with plaintiff’s
attorney, but he felt the judge was impartial and E liked him.

E had previous experience with the media that was quite
negative. He stated that while working at a previous job a local
newspaper badly misquoted someone on a subject he was familiar
with, "I have the feeling that (the media) can get things wrona,”

E said. E feels that sometimes writers mav twist a story for an
editor, to get a juicy story. They twist words out of context.
Despite his very strong feelings about drugs, E doubted how
important it was for the newspapers to undertake a story such as
this since people at the street level alreadv fully know what is
going on regarding drug trafficking. 1In fact, E stated his belief
that the police and FBI already know who the drug smuqgglers are, and
that it is difficult for "outsiders" such as the defendant's
reporters to really "get inside" this type of storv. E used to read
the paper regularly but he "swore off reading long ago." He does
read the business and stock sections of the newspamner and watches

coTe TV news,

Juror F

Juror F is a woman in her 30's who works for a local hospital.
She originally agreed to meet with LDRC for an interview, but failed
to appear. LDRC subsequently tried to contact her, but without
success., According to the other jurors, F was guite adamant in her
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belief that plaintiff was a drug smuggler from the very outset of
the trial. Her disbelief of the plaintiff's basic testimony led her
to that conclusion, During the deliberations F apparently stood
firm in this adamant belief and is reported to have largely declined
otherwise to join in the deliberations. Juror F originally voted
"no" to guestion one -- i,e., that the references to the plaintiff
were not substantially false. It is reported that F ultimately
changed her vote on that guestion immediately after the forelady,
Juror A, changed her vote. F did not think the reporters had acted
in a grossly irresponsible manner, and voted "no" on guestion two.

F was the juror who, on the first day of the deliberations,
suggested that the jurors "give the man one dollar,” but this
suqggestion appears to have been treated as a facetious one both hy
the other jurors and by F herself. It certeainly appears that F did
not want to award plaintiff any damages.

2. Alternate Jurors

Juror G

Juror G i1s a 36-vyear old man who works as a social worker at a
psychiatric center. G has a B.S. in Psychology and a masters deqgree
in Social Work. ©& all the jurors and alternates LDRC contacted, G
had the most accurate understanding of the judge's instructions on
the applicable law and the most comrelete recall of the evidence in
the case.

From an early point in the trial, G found himself disbelievina
the plaintiff's statements on the stand, however he worked hard to
follow the judge's instructions to keep an open mind as the evidence
was presented and only became convinced that plaintiff was a drua
smuagler after hearing the testimonv of defendant's surprise
witness, He thought the surprise witness was credible and was, in
fact, the key witness on truth., G initially believed the testimony
of the foreign police official who appeared on plaintiff's behalf,
but defense counsel's cross-examination sugaested to him that the
official wasn't telling the truth. When the judge instructed the
jurors that the accuracy of any details the defendant nrinted was
irrelevant in deciding guestion one, G was surprised but he
understood that instruction and was not confused bv the charge as to
"substantial falsity." G also had a clear recollection of where the
burden of proof lay on both questions one and two. These
lnstructions convinced G that a verdict for the defense was legally
reguired.

Therefore G said he was shocked when after the trial he learned
of the jury's decision on the first question, and felt that for that
decision to have been reached the charge must have been amended
after the alternates had been excused. G would have voted that the
references to plaintiff were not substantially false. He reasoned,
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"This was a suit for damages, and the issue -- the onlv thino that
could be damaging to (plaintiff}) -- was whether or not he was a drua
smuggler. So the 'substantive' issue is whether or not he was
involved in drug trafficking."”

G did not concern himself areatly with the revorters'
performance, since he would never have reached the second guestion
on the special verdict form. He thouaht not interviewina the
plaintiff was sloppy on their part, but after the testimony of the
surprise witness that fact did not matter as much te him, since he
felt the reporters had "gotten the goods" on the plaintiff. He did
nct think the reporters had heen crosslyv irresvonsible, and Aid not
think the plaintiff deserved to be awarded any damages.

Although G thouaght plaintiff's attorney was too flambovant and
repetitious and made outragous requests to the witnesses, G still
felt that he did a basically "aood job." However, at one point
during cross-examination of the surprise witness G even beagan to
feel that plaintiff's counsel was acting like a "Mafia mouthpiece."”
G also thought the defendant's attorney did good work, and that he
won the case bv producing his surprise witness, Fe thought the
judge was fair, kept a tight rein on plaintiff attornev's
objections, and was running a tight court overall,

G had no strong personal feelings or experiences regarding
drugs. Because of the heavv worklead in his iob he rarelv ocets a
chance to read daily newspapers, hut he does watch TV news and reads
a Sundav newspaper., G recalled one instance in which a newsnaver
article about a psychiatric center at which he had worked presented
what he considered a distorted view, and the article ancered him.

He is uncertain whether reporters lie when working on a story. "I
think veople frequently operate out of self-interest, so T'm
generally skeptical of everyone," G said.

Juror H

Juror H is a woman in her late 20's who works in the printing
department of a large communications companv. H's initial reaction
to the case was that the defendant was "guiltv," althouah she
considered the plaintiff "one of the biggest drug smugglers you'll
ever see," and didn't think he proved anvthina. However, H's
understanding was that the burden was on the defendant to prove
"their charges." This perception mav have flowed from the fact that
H had previously served as a juror in an eight-month criminal trial.

H thought the plaintiff did a aood job on the stand, but that
the police official who testified on his behalf "lied from beainning
to end." The defendant's surprise witness proved to B that he had
completed an earlier drug deal with the plaintiff, but she did not
consider that enough evidence for the defendant to win the case.
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Not only did H confuse the burden of proof, she also felt that
details written in the passage concerning plaintiff were relevant in
answering question one. She therefore criticized the defendant for
not being able to prove the truth of these incidental details. Had
H been involved in the deliberations, she would have voted that the
references to plaintiff were substantially false.

H thought the reporters were 1lving during the trial, and had a
"who cares?" attitude about their reporting. She felt they should
have gotten more information, confronted the plaintiff with their
charges, and in general should have done more work. She did think
the reporters originally received their information on the plaintiff
from foreign sources, and was unable to say whether they had been
grossly irresponsible or not. H did not think the book's
publication had disturbed the plaintiff's life, and did not think he
deserved anywhere near the amount of money he was reguestina,

H felt the plaintiff's attorney was loud but effective, and that
the defendant's attorney simply needed more time to prepare evidence
for a case. H is concerned about the drug problem because she has
seen pecople living around her dving as a result of drugs. H said
she had heard of libel issues before this case but was not familiar
with a major recent libel case that had been brought against her

employer.

Juror 1

Juror I is a high school-educated woman in her mid-40s who works
as a reservationist for a major airline. She had served as a juror
in a previous criminal trial. She complained that she did not know
any of the legal standards in this case until the close of the
trial. Juror I understcod that in this case it was up to the
plaintiff to prove that he was not a drug smuggler, and she felt he
did not accomplish that. However she found some of his testimonv
credible and she was not convinced that the plaintiff was a drug
smuggler until the end of the trial. Had she taken part in the
deliberations, Juror I would have voted that the references to
plaintiff were not substantially false.

Juror I never reached a definite conclusion on the foreign
police official who testified for the plaintiff, although she felt
that he was too involved with the reporters not to have said
anvthing to them. Juror I thought the defendant's surprise witness
did a good job testifying, and she did not accept plaintiff
counsel's criticism of the late date of his appearance at the
trial, Juror I also did not think the accuracy or inaccuracy of the
details the reporters printed made much difference in the case. She
thought the U.S. drug agents would not have testified on defendant's
behalf without some basis, although she didn't like the fact that
one of them was paid to testify, believing it was his civic duty to
do so.
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Juror I felt that the defendant absolutely did not act in a
grossly irresponsible manner. She didn't think the reporters lied
or that they had pulled the plaintiff's name from a hat, and she
didn't think they were negligent. However, she did feel that thev
could have consoclidated their records more, may have stretched some
facts in their reporting and might have done a better job if they
had known there would be a libel suit against them in the future.
Juror I did not feel the plaintiff was harmed by the book or was in
any financial trouble, and she éid not feel he deserved to bhe
awarded any damages.

Juror I thought the plaintiff's attornev was nver-dramatic and
frequently insulted the jurors' intelligence. On the other hand,
she felt the defense attorney "got the job Adone without all the

shenanigans.” She stated she is "not a big newspaper reader." She
said@ that Time magazine confused her because it "always had
contradictions in its statistics." Juror I often sees slight

inaccuracies in TV newscasts and thinks the media can be biased, bhut
she doesn't think reporters intentionally report false information.
In this case, she "could not see the three reoorters connivina to
lie." Her belief was that they would not last long in the
profession if they did so. Juror I did not have anv extensive
familiarity with k}bel but did vaguely remember the Westmoreland and
Sharon cases.

Juror J

Juror J is a woman, approximatelv 40 vears of age, who works as
a lab technician at a local hospital. J received several letters
from LDRC requestina an interview, but did not respond, From
conversations with other jurors, it is believed that she also felt
plaintiff was a drug smuggler,

Jurer K

Juror K is a man in his mid-40's who works as a routeman for a
drv cleaners., LDRC was unable to locate or contact Juror K.
However, hased on conversations with other jurors it is bhelieved he

too felt plaintiff was a drug smuggler.

Juror L

Juror L is an approximately 50-vear-old man who is presentlv
unemployed. LDRC was unable to locate or contact Juror L. However,
based on conversations with other jurors it is believed he alsc felt

plaintiff was a drug smuggler.
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LDRC Analvsis

The visible results of the jury's deliberations in this case, a
split special verdict finding in favor of the libel plaintiff on the
truth/falsity issue while at the same time findina in favor of the
media defendant on the issue of fault and thereby granting judgment
for the defense, would at face value avpear to have been a loagical
and predictable one., It is a pattern that has been followed not
infrequently in previous media libel cases, perhaps most notably in
Sharon v. Time. However, an in-depth look below the surface of this
seemingly plausible Solomonic outcome reveals a far more compblex
picture and suggests the very real dangers and pitfalls -- for hoth
plaintiffs and defendants in libel actions -- of entrustina ones
reputation, personal or professional, to the common sense
perceptions and decisions of even the most well-meanina lav -‘ury.

From the libel plaintiff's point of view -- and assuming for
these purposes that the plaintiff i1s genuinely aaarieved bv charaes
that in fact are false -~ the jury's unanimously negative response
to the plaintiff's claim of innocence in this case demonstrates the
fearsome prospect that is certainly always present when
truth/falsity is seriously contested and when the underlyino charaes
are ones that are difficult definitively to prove or disprove ~-
i.e., the prospect that the jury will ultimately disbelieve the
plaintiff and find the charges to be true and that this will be
revealed by means of a special verdict or otherwise, Such a result,
of course, could leave the plaintiff, after a presumably arducus and
costly litigation,  in a worse position than if the libel suit had
never been brought or pursued in the first place.

From the media libel defendant's point of view -- and again
assuming that the journalists were not at fault, actually or at
least in the legal sense, in publishing charges that mav have turned
out to be false -- the jury's at best lukewarm response to the
newspaper's claim in this case, not only of lack of fault bhut of
investigative journalism of the highest caliber, demonstrates the
perhaos impossibly high standards to which juries may hold the
media, even where as in this case the jury has concluded that the
underlving charge was both true and highly significant. If this
seems to be second-guessing by the jury from hindsight and more than
a bit unfair, this case nonetheless forcefully shows that media
libel defendants must be wary of jury's propensities to second-quess
their methods in this fashion. Based on the findinags of LDRC's Jurv
Studies to date, juries seem quite prepared to agree with a libel
plaintiff's contention that vou can always do more to check a storv
and it does not necessarily impress them either that an extensive
investigation was undertaken or that the Jist of the storv is true,
so long as details are wrong and somethina more could have been done
to make the publication more accurate. Here most of the jurors
agreed with the contention that the journalism was "sloppv" even
though they felt the story ultimately published was essentiallv
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correct and even thouah thev had no particular sympathy for a
plaintiff they apparently all believed was involved in drug
trafficking,

In sum, it is almost unavoidable but to conclude that in this
case only the slightest shift in the composition of the jury, in the
overall impressions conveyed during the trial by plaintiff, his
counsel or his key witness, or in the unique availability of a
surprise witness linking the plaintiff to another otherwise
unrelated drug transaction -- that any shift in these key factors
could have led to a cguite different outcome. One wonders, for
example, what the outcome might have been in such circumstances, had
the lesser "negligence" standard bheen applied and had plaintiff's
counsel been able to focus on such alleged negligence rather than on
the far more extreme contention that professional reporters had lied
and fabricated serious accusations. In short, eéven a Pulitzer
Prize-winning article, staunchly defended by too-notch media defense
counsel, an article said to be based on numerous, sources and
vigorously stood by through a dozen years of litigation by a
highly-respected media company and top-flight, professional
reporters, can still come surprisinglyvy close to comino out at the
wrong end of a libel jury verdict.

What all of this says about how to defend a libel case
successfully must ultimately be left to the good judgment and
instincts of media defense counsel in future cases. It is still far
too early, based on the limited number of LDRC Jury Studies, to
reach confident generalizations regardina jury behavior in libel
actions -- at least conclusions generalizable enough by themselves
to dictate defense strategy in particular future cases.

Nonetheless, there is at least one perhaps obvious., but
nonetheless critically-important, conclusion that is alreadv
painfully apparent from LDRC's Studies thus far. That is, that
legal instructions ultimately play a pivotal role in the jurv's
deliberation process. In LDRC Jury Study #1, a reascnably good set
of instructions on the actual malice issue was laragely ianored bv a
jury predisposed against the defense on the issue of truth or
falsity. In Jurv Studv #2, deficiences in the instructions mav have
led a jury otherwise somewhat sympathetic to the defense to
misapprehend the law and conclude that a verdict for the plaintiff
was legally required. In this third LDRC Jury Study, the jury's
failure to recall crucial elements of the judge's charae, combined
with a confusingly framed special interrogatory, led to a split
verdict inconsistent with the jurv's near unanimous underlvina
factual view of the case.

with legal instructions being obviously so crucial to the
outcome of jury cases -- particularly in media libel cases where by
constitutional command the law places heavv burdens on the libel
plaintiff -- it is almost incredible how little attention the law
pavs to educating jurors generally regardina these governing leaal
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standards or to assurina that the lanauage and structure of Hdurv
instructions is clear, comprehensible and can be remembered and
referred to by the jury during its deliberations. 71t would apovear
foolhardy in the extreme to expect a lay jury, unschooled in the
niceties of libel law, fully to comprehend and recall a lencthv and
complex set of jury instructions based on a single reading at the
end of an often long trial. 1In this case, for examnle, the -urors
failed to recall and largely turned on its head even the most hasic
element of burden of proof. Upon reflection, it is hardly
surprising that a lay jury, more familiar with "Perry Mason” (or
perhaps today "L.A. Law"} than with the legal standards apolicahle
to a civil libel claim, could erroneously c¢onclude, after four or
five weeks of trial where the major issue in the case fairlv
appeared to the jury to be the "guilt" or "innocence" of the
plaintiff with regard to a charge of serious criminal activitv, that
such charges must be "proven" in a court of law by those making such
allegations. One reading of a civil libel burden of proof
instruction was obviously not enough to disabuse a majority of at
least this jury of such a "common sense” notion. In this case,
defendant's counsel unsuccessfully sought additional readings of the
] burden instruction and its inclusion in a special interrocatorv.
LDRC's Jury Studies have not revealed a pattern of conscious Jjury
"nullification," or even an inherent inability to comprehend

~ instructions, so much as a fundamental failure in the trial process
a meaningfully to educate the jury so that thev can arasc, recall and
] be guided by complex, as this case once again demonstrates, often
counterintuitive legal standards.

=l 1

Much more can and must be done to assure that we don't build
into the libel svstem a fruitless charade whereby duries, left
largely ignorant of the governing legal standards, do their best to
find facts hased on the diligent apovlication of their cood common
) sense only to find their verdicts systematically reversed on appeal
because of leagal errors that could have heen avoided at trial. The
] simple expedient of agreeing on operative charge language prior to
the trial so that counsel for bhoth sides can confidentlv refer to
the governing legal standards in their presentations; of
pre-charging on key legal standards by the iudae at the outset of
the case; of interim legal charges or attorney summations to bolster
the jurv's continued awareness of these standards throuahout the
case; of clearer, briefer and simpler charge language in the closina
charce and of providinag the jury with a full (or summarized} text of
the instructions, could all help enormouslv. Attention must also be
paid to assuring a more perfect congruence hetween charae lanauaage
and any jury interrogatories or special verdict form. While this
task would appear simple enough, two of the three LDRC Studies
revealed fundamental disparities between charage and verdict form
which substantially affected the outcomes of those cases. (For a
welcome judicial recognition of the need for such reforms in the
context of libel qjurv trials, see the excellent concurrinag ovinion
of Judge Ruth Ginsburg in Tavoulareas v. Washington Post, 13
§ Med.L.Rptr. 2377, 2408-11 (D.C. Cir. 1987) {en bhanc).)
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